1948

La Vora Spendlove v. Paul Shewchuck, Matilda Shewchuck and Mary Shewchuck, dba American Window Cleaning Co. : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was brought by plaintiff against the defendants for damages alleged to have resulted to her from a broken upper femur of the left leg suffered on the 3rd day of January, 1947, while she was walking south on the sidewalk on the west side of Washington Boulevard in Ogden, Utah, near the center of the block between 23rd and 24th Streets. She alleged that the employee of the defendants, doing business as American Window Cleaning Company, was washing windows at Taylor-Wright Company (which was actually the Princess Shop, adjoining Taylor-Wrights on the north), and that as she passed him on the sidewalk, he projected the handle of a brush being used by him while washing windows out over a portion of the sidewalk and between her legs so that she became entangled with it, causing her to fall to the sidewalk,

breaking her left leg between the knee and hip. Plaintiff alleges defendants were negligent, reckless, and careless, because of which she suffered the injuries complained of and she claims damages in the sum of \$15,000.00 general and \$4,260.00 special (Pages 010-012, Bill of Exceptions) as follows: medical care and hospitalization, \$750.00; damage to clothing, \$10.00; care of her children, \$500.00. She also claimed that she had been unable to secure help at her home and that it had been necessary for her husband to remain at home to wait upon her to her damage in the sum of \$1000.00, and loss of income from chickens in the sum of \$2,000.00. In her original complaint plaintiff brought suit against Paul Shewchuck only, doing business as American Window Cleaning Company, setting forth the same facts, alleging the same general damage, but alleging special damages in the sum of \$770.00 (Pages 001-003, Bill of Exceptions.) In her Amended and Supplemental Complaint she included Paul Shewchuck's wife, Matilda, and daughter, Mary (Pages 001-002, Bill of exceptions); and the Amended and Supplemental Complaint was filed after the cause was fully at issue upon her original complaint (Pages 001-003, Bill of Exceptions), the answer of the defendant, Paul Shewchuck (Pages 006 and 007, Bill of Exceptions), and Plaintiff's reply (Page 009, Bill of Exceptions). The reply consisted of a general denial of the affirmative defense contained in the answer, and no reply was filed to the answer to the amended and supplemental complaint, which was filed without leave of court. A general and special demurrer was filed to the original complaint and overruled (Pages 004 and 005, Bill of Exceptions). In his answer Paul Shewchuck denied generally and specially the main allegations of the complaint and affirmatively alleged negligence, carelessness and recklessness on the part of the plaintiff (Pages 006 and 007, Bill of Exceptions). Separate general demurrers were filed by each of the defendants to the amended and supplemental complaint (Pages 017-019, Bill of Exceptions) and were overruled. Separate answers were filed by each of the defendants (Pages 014, 021 and 023, Bill of Exceptions). The answer of the defendant, Paul Shewchuck,

was substantially the same as his original answer, and the answers of the two added defendants contained general denials of the material allegations of the amended and supplemental complaint and an affirmative defense that they were in no way connected with the American Window Cleaning Company. The case was tried to a jury and submitted on special interrogatories by the court (Page 039, Bill of exceptions) on the 23rd day of January, 1948.

At the commencement of the trial and upon motion of the plaintiff the cause was dismissed as to the defendants, Matilda and Mary Shewchuck. A verdict was reached, awarding plaintiff general damages in the sum of \$5,000.00 and special damages in the sum of \$1,658.65 against the defendant, Paul Shewchuck, and judgment on the verdict was entered accordingly (Page 040, Bill of Exceptions).

On the day of the accident the defendant, Paul Shewchuck, was admittedly not present but was in the hospital for an operation. His employee, Archie Hood, Jr., a colored man, was cleaning windows at the Princess Shop, where the accident occurred.

A brief resume of the evidence is as follows: Plaintiff on the day in question was in Ogden shopping. She had made a purchase at Mode-O'Day Shop, some distance north of the scene of the accident, and proceeded south, headed for Penneys on the corner of 24th Street and Washington Boulevard (Page 50, Bill of Exceptions). It was about noon; the weather was fair and dry (Pages 43 and 111, Bill of Exceptions). The sidewalk was 19 feet and a few inches wide (Page 185, Bill of Exceptions). There were very few people on the sidewalk, around a couple or three going south and around a couple or three going north (Page 192, 193 Bill of Exceptions). As she approached the Princess Shop and at quite some distance to the north, she noticed the colored man washing the windows at the south side of the Princess Shop (Pages 50 and 106, Bill of Exceptions). She noticed he was wiping the windows with

a long-handled wiper. She did not know exactly where she was walking except "where an ordinary person would walk" (Page 50, Bill of Exceptions); that as she approached the colored man brought the brush or wiper down, protruding the to her; (and as she turned to the east, her back was to him). She testified that (while she didn't see it as she passed) the colored man brought the brush or wiper down, protruding the handle out across the sidewalk and between her legs; that she tripped over it, falling to the pavement and knocking the wiper out of his hands (Pages 51 and 72, Bill of Exceptions); and, as heretofore stated, the upper femur of her left leg was broken about an inch below the hip joint (Pages 5 and 15, Bill of Exceptions). The plaintiff was hospitalized for about two weeks, during which time she suffered some distension of the abdomen, the cause of which was not definitely determined (Pages 5-15, Bill of Exceptions). She was put to bed at her home "for quite a few days" (Page 7, Bill of Exceptions). A Smith Peterson nail was used in the bone fragments, pinning them together. She made a satisfactory recovery (Page 6, Bill of Exceptions). There was some slight impairment in the use of her leg sideways. Otherwise, she was completely recovered (Pages 11, 12, 15 and 24, Bill of Exceptions). Plaintiff suffered from chronic asthma (Page 10, Bill of Exceptions). With the exception of a short period of time immediately following the accident, that was probably not adversely affected (Page 11, Bill of Exceptions). Plaintiff's doctor bill was \$155.00 (Page 200, Bill of Exceptions), with an additional \$15.00 and \$5.00 (Page 62, Bill of Exceptions). She hired a hospital bed for \$9.50 (Page 63, Bill of Exceptions). Her hospital bill was \$97.50 (Page 63, Bill of Exceptions). She claimed costs of laundry at \$125.00, although she kept no record of the same (Page 62, Bill of Exceptions); outlay for medicines \$130.00, with no record kept (Pages 62, 74, 76 and 79, Bill of Exceptions); expenses of laboratory technician, \$8.00 (Page 63, Bill of Exceptions); crutches, \$2.50 to \$3.00; and ambulance to take her home \$5.00 (Page 144, Bill of Exceptions). Plaintiff's husband, Leland Spendlove, who was employed by Ogden City

previously at 82c an hour, (Pages 145 and 146, Bill of Exceptions) laid off his work and remained at home, where he waited on the plaintiff and took care of their little boy, 7 years old, and about 300 chickens. He remained at home six and one-half months (Page 146, Bill of Exceptions) without making any effort to obtain the services of anyone to look after his wife (Pages 152-161, Bill of Exceptions). Evidence concerning the production of eggs in the Spendlove flock was admitted (Pages 68, 69, 70, 71, 159 and 160, Bill of Exceptions) but was neither submitted to the jury by special interrogatory or otherwise, nor was it withdrawn from them. Plaintiff testified that she was unable to get around except on crutches and then very limitedly for some months (Page 64, Bill of Exceptions). Defendant Paul Shewchuck testified that on or about March 1, 1947, less than two months after the accident, he went to her home to purchase eggs, and she was walking without the aid of crutches or any other support (Pages 181 and 182, Bill of Exceptions).

A description of the premises where the accident occurred may be found on Pages 104, 105, 186 and 187 of the Bill of Exceptions. The length of the window north and south being washed by defendant's agent was forty-three and one-fourth inches. Height of the window itself was six feet two inches. Below this window for a distance of between one and two feet was solid wall. There was a marquee extending back from the sidewalk and around a glass island in the center. There was a cardboard partition extending part of the distance through the glassed-in island in the marquee. The front of the island extended out parallel with the windows on the south and north side. There was a window on the north side, the same size as the window on the south which was being washed by defendant's agent. Arthur Williams, Manager of the Princess Shop, testified that he was in the window on the north side at the time of the accident. He testified that the plaintiff entered the marquee, apparently on the north side, and went around, coming out on the south side, or else she had been in the Princess Shop. He testified definitely to seeing

her leaving the store or marquee on the south entrance (Page 165, Bill of Exceptions) and that "she was in a rapid hurry" (Page 165, Bill of Exceptions). Plaintiff denied entering the marquee.

The court submitted special interrogatories to the jury who gave answers thereto as follows:

"The Jury should answer the following interrogatories, and from your answers to said interrogatories you will make up your verdict:

1. Was the Defendant guilty of negligence on the third day of January, 1947, that proximately caused the plaintiff to suffer injuries at said time?

Answer: 'Yes.'

If you answer the above question in the negative, then you should return a verdict of No Cause of Action.

If you answer the question in the affirmative, then you should answer this question:

2. Was the Plaintiff, LaVora Spendlove, guilty of contributory negligence that proximately caused the injuries which she received on the third day of January, 1947?

Answer: 'No.'

If you answer this last question in the affirmative, then your verdict should be No Cause of Action; but if you answer it in the negative then you should answer the following questions:

3. What amount of earnings and subsistence, if any, did the plaintiff suffer loss of by reason of said accident and injuries?

'\$1,000.00.'

4. What amount of obligations as to doctor, hospital and medical bills did plaintiff suffer, if any, by reason of

said accident and injuries?

'\$523.65.'

5. What amount of obligations did the plaintiff incur for the care of her child by reason of said accident and injuries?

'\$135.00.'

6. What amount of general damages, if any, did the plaintiff suffer by reason of said accident and injuries?

'\$5,000.00.'

(Signed) "ARNOLD N. CROUCH
Foreman."

whereupon judgment was entered upon the verdict against the defendant, Paul Shewchuck, in the sum of \$1,685.85 special damages "to cover **loss of earnings and subsistence** and obligations as to hospital, medical and doctor bills" and \$5,000.00 general damages.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERRORS

Defendant and appellant makes and assigns the following errors upon which he relies for a reversal of the judgment appealed from and as a basis for a direction from this court to the Trial Court to make and enter a judgment as prayed for by defendants:

1. The Trial Court erred in overruling defendants' general demurrer (Pages 005, 020, Bill of Exceptions).

2. The Trial Court erred in failing to withdraw from the jury evidence concerning a pretended loss to plaintiff in the operation of her chickens (Pages 148 and 149, Bill of Exceptions).

3. The Trial Court erred in overruling the defendants' objection to evidence concerning the earnings or salary of the witness, Leland Spendlove (Pages 145, 224 and 225, Bill of Exceptions).

4. The Trial Court erred in submitting special interrogatory No. 3 to the jury (Pages 235, 236, Bill of Exceptions).

5. The Trial Court erred in submitting Special Interrogatory No. 4 to the Jury (Page 236, Bill of Exceptions).

6. The Trial Court erred in its failure and refusal to give defendants' Requested Instruction No. 1.

7. The Trial Court erred in its failure and refusal to give defendants' Requested Instruction No. 2.

8. The Trial Court erred in its failure and refusal to give defendants' Requested Instruction No. 3.

9. The Trial Court erred in its failure and refusal to give defendants' Requested Instruction No. 4.

10. The court erred in submitting to the jury Instruction No. 5.

11. The court erred in submitting to the jury Instruction No. 8.

12. The court erred in submitting to the jury Instruction No. 10.

13. The court erred in submitting to the jury Instruction No. 11.

14. The court erred in submitting to the jury Instruction No. 12.

15. The Trial Court erred in entering the judgment on the verdict.

THE QUESTIONS INVOLVED

I

The Trial Court's refusal to sustain defendants' demurrer to amended and supplemental complaint and to direct a verdict for defendants and against plaintiff. A discussion of this involves Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 6, and 15.

II

The admission of evidence concerning the earnings or salary of Leland Spendlove, husband of plaintiff, and not assigned to plaintiff. This involves a discussion of Assignments of Error Nos. 3, part of 4, (relating to special interrogatory No. 3), and 9.

III

The Trial Court's refusal to properly instruct the jury upon contributory negligence. This involves a discussion of defendants' Assignments of Error Nos. 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.

IV

Whether plaintiff's evidence with respect to her loss for medicines and laundry was so vague and indefinite and her evidence with respect to loss on chickens was so vague and speculative that the same should all have been withdrawn from the jury completely. This involves a discussion of Assignments of Error Nos. 2 and 5.

Since the Assignments of Error overlap and run together in some instances, we will discuss them so far as possible in the order grouped above.

DEFENDANTS' DEMURRER TO PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED. FAILING IN THAT DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 SHOULD HAVE BEEN GIVEN AND A VERDICT DIRECTED IN HIS FAVOR AND AGAINST PLAINTIFF, OR THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE REFUSED TO ENTER A JUDGMENT ON THE VERDICT FOR THE REASONS THAT

- A. Plaintiff does not plead a cause of action.
- B. She failed to prove a cause of action, and
- C. Regardless of the verdict of the jury, under the facts pleaded and the evidence offered she had no cause of action.

Paragraph 3 of the complaint reads in part as follows:

“That on the aforesaid 3rd day of January, 1947, this plaintiff was walking along said sidewalk on the west side of Washington Boulevard in Ogden, Utah, in front of the aforesaid Taylor-Wright Company; that the defendants then and there, through their agents and employees, were cleaning the windows of the said Taylor-Wright Company; that one of said agents was standing on the sidewalk with his face toward the windows and his back toward pedestrian traffic and was using a long-handled mop or window cleaner in the operation of cleaning said windows.* That as the plaintiff approached the point where the agent of the defendants was cleaning said windows, said employee had the window cleaner with the long handle extended vertically into the air parallel with the window, but as the plaintiff reached a point even with the said employee, the said agent carelessly, recklessly and negligently, without looking and without any regard for the safety of pedestrians using the sidewalk, and particularly for the safety of this plaintiff, suddenly pulled said long-handled window cleaner down without turning around and negligently, recklessly, carelessly and suddenly thrust the handle of said window cleaner across the sidewalk so as to suddenly project the said handle between the legs of the plaintiff and trip her so that she fell to the paved sidewalk with great force.”

The paragraph quoted is the charging part of the complaint. Plaintiff pleads facts apparently observed by her and known to her at the time of and prior to the accident. In other words, she has stated in effect that she saw the defendants' agent washing a window at the time and place given, using a dangerous instrumentality (a brush with a long handle) and the effect of the pleading is to admit, and we think she does admit that having seen or observed the work being done by defendants' agent and the instrumentality with which he was doing the work, and having observed that his back was turned

to her so that she could see him but that he could not see her in that position, yet she walked so closely to him in full knowledge of the peril of her position that she tripped over the handle, which she had already perceived him using. At no place in the complaint, neither factually or by conclusion, does she even infer that she used any degree of care after having observed the condition of peril she was about to place herself in, to avoid the results which actually occurred. The charging part of her pleading shows, in other words, that she observed a condition of peril, knew it existed and made no effort to avoid walking into it. The complaint does not at any place in the least, even by inference negative contributory negligence on her part but actually in effect pleads contributory negligence on her part, and thus defeated the statement of a cause of action. *Birsch v. Citizens Elec. Co.* 36 Mont. 574, 93 P. 940. Therefore defendants' demurrer should have been sustained.

Plaintiff's evidence clearly shows contributory negligence on her part as a matter of law. She stated in effect that she was on a shopping tour. It was near noon, and her husband and two young children were at home. She intended going into Penneys, apparently to make a purchase, before going home to fix their noon-day meal. The above facts indicate strongly that she was in a hurry and the evidence proves that she was. The witness Glen Williams testified that "she was in a rapid hurry." She testified she did not know just what portion of the sidewalk she occupied but said she was walking "where an ordinary person would walk." The sidewalk was dry, the weather was good, and she had a parcel and a purse or bag in her arms. She further testified that even before she came to the north side of the Princess Shop and just after she left the Mode-O'Day Shop to the north she saw Archie Hood washing the window at the south of the Princess Shop, using a long-handled brush, and his back was turned to her, so that for a considerable distance before she reached the point of impact she saw and must have realized the peril she would be placed in unless she continued to watch his movements and detoured sufficiently to avoid colliding with him or the brush. She admitted on cross

examination that the sidewalk was likely nine or ten feet wide. (It was actually nineteen feet some inches wide). So that from her own evidence there was ample room on the sidewalk which was not in the least congested, (but very little pedestrian traffic), to walk to the east far enough to avoid colliding with the defendants' agent and thus assure her safety. Instead of doing that, she testified that as she reached a point back of the colored man, she turned out of the way a little bit, apparently to the east, which would place her back admittedly toward the colored man's back and close enough to him that when the handle came down she tripped over it and fell. All of the damage she testified to resulted from that fall.

Looking at the case in its worst light against the defendant (and for the sake of the argument, admitting that his agent might have been negligent, (which we do not), the plaintiff in her own complaint and in her own testimony shows clearly that she was guilty of contributory negligence, which occurred at least concurrently with any negligence of the defendant's agent, if there was any. Our conclusion may be different if the doctrine of comparative negligence had been adopted in this state, but since the doctrine of contributory negligence has been adopted instead thereof, the rule we think is very succinctly stated in 114 A. L. R. in a note beginning on Page 830, as follows:

"A fundamental doctrine of the common law is that while defendants' negligence subjects him to a liability to the plaintiff, yet if the plaintiff's negligence also proximately contributed, although in slight degree, to the injury, there is no right of recovery whatever. * "The negligence of the plaintiff, which will defeat recovery, must be such as directly contributes to the injury—It must be a proximate cause of the injury." So that while the fact that the plaintiff's negligence was slight or negligible as compared with that of the defendant will not defeat the rule.

"Thus it is said that to warrant the application of the doctrine of contributory negligence 'the plaintiff's negli-

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