1949

La Vora Spendlove v. Paul Shewchuck, Matilda Shewchuck and Mary Shewchuck, dba American Window Cleaning Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Let us now examine what happened in the instant case.

The district court had no jurisdiction to grant an extension of time to the appellant after the 23rd day of February, 1948, since the judgment was entered on the verdict on January 23, 1948, as shown in the judgment roll, page 040. However, no proposed bill of exceptions was served until April 24, 1948. In the meantime no application for an extension had been made or granted, and no motion for new trial had been made. Obviously, therefore, under the holdings of the Utah Supreme Court hereinbefore cited, the purported service and settlement of the bill of exceptions on April 24, 1948, were null and void.

It was not until the 10th day of May, 1948, that the attorney for the appellant served upon the attorney for the respondent a paper which was designated "APPLICATION FOR RELIEF" (See page 3, Supplemental Bill of Exceptions).

That application for relief moved "for relief, as provided in Section 104-14-4, U. C. A., 1943, because of the failure of the defendant to serve and file his bill of exceptions in the above entitled case within the time provided for by Section 104-39-4, U C. A., 1943, upon the grounds of inadvertence, mistake and excusable neglect. This motion is made and will be supported upon the affidavit of Ira A. Huggins, attorney for said defendant." There was nothing in the application to indicate that the appellant intended to do anything except support his motion by the affidavit which was served with the motion.

In the affidavit (See Pages 1 and 2 of Supplemental Bill of Exceptions) the attorney for the appellant sets forth that the verdict of the jury was returned on January 23, 1948; "that approximately two weeks thereafter, affiant ordered the preparation of a transcript and bill of exceptions in the case from Simon Barlow, the court reporter in said court in said cause." That the affiant received the transcript about April 16, 1948;

that he submitted it to plaintiff's attorney about April 24, 1948. At this point the affiant overlooks an obvious and important part of the record. He says that a stipulation was signed to the effect that the transcript as served upon the attorney for respondent was true and correct and might be settled by the judge as such. However, the stipulation now in the record contains the following words in the handwriting of one of the attorneys for the respondent:

"Subject, however, to all rights of plaintiff to move to strike said bill or to take such steps as provided by law because of the failure of defendant to prepare, settle and file said bill in the time and manner provided by law."

Obviously, up to that point in the affidavit there is nothing warranting any relief from default. Affiant then proceeds in his affidavit to state in substance that the reason he didn't apply to the court for an extension of time within the thirty-day period was because he misunderstood the provisions of subdivision 2 of Section 104-39-4, U. C. A., 1943, and thought he had thirty days after service of his notice of appeal in which to serve and file his bill of exceptions, and that he didn't become aware of his mistake until he rechecked the statute on April 21, 1948. He doesn't state, however, what caused him to put a different meaning into the statute on April 21, than he got out of it about the 10th of February.

The last paragraph of the affidavit merely contains a statement to the effect that the affiant believes he has grounds for appeal and that the case can't properly be reviewed without a bill of exceptions.

In substance, therefore, all that the attorney for the appellant says in his affidavit is that he misunderstood the obvious provisions of the law as contained in Section 104-39-4, U. C. A.

1943, relating to the preparation, serving and filing of bills of exception.

As early as 1934, the Utah Supreme Court passed upon this very question in the case of Findlay v. National Union Indemnity Co., 85 Ut. 110, cited at length in the previous pages of this brief. The provisions of the statute now under consideration which were then contained in R. S. of Utah, 1933, were discussed and definitely construed. In that case it was specifically urged that the statute gave thirty days from the date of the service of the notice of appeal in which to serve and file the bill of exceptions. The court held that the contention was erroneous, and that all the statute meant was that if the time had not already started to run that the filing of a notice of appeal started the time to pass for the filing of the bill of exceptions. If to ignore a law which is so well established comprises inadvertence and excusable neglect then to ignore or misinterpret any and all other provisions of law could at any time be urged as grounds for relief.

But, let us look a bit further into this case. There is nothing in the application of the appellant requesting an order permitting the serving and filing of the bill of exceptions within a specified time. Nor does the order of the court grant the appellant any additional time, or fix any time in which to file a bill of exceptions or authorize the filing of a bill of exceptions. The order of the court found on Page 10 of the Supplemental Bill of Exceptions reads as follows:

“IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the defendant Paul Schewchuck should be in the furtherance of justice, and he is hereby relieved of any default or apparent default in failing to prepare, serve and file his bill of exceptions in said case within the time fixed by statute pursuant to the

Section 104-14-4, U. C. A., 1943.

"IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that plaintiff's objections to the granting of relief as prayed in defendant's petition for relief should be and the same hereby are overruled and denied. Dated and signed this 21st day of May, 1948, John A. Hendricks, Judge."

Now if the court was without jurisdiction to settle the bill of exceptions on April 24, 1948, and the bill served upon the respondent on that date was a nullity, there was, therefore, in effect no bill of exceptions served or filed when the court entered its order on May 21, 1948.

The records fail to disclose any attempt whatever to serve or file a bill of exceptions after the court purportedly relieved the appellant of his default. There was no attempt even to make a nunc pro tunc order validating the purported bill of exceptions. In substance, therefore, no bill of exceptions has yet been served or filed.

The plaintiff and respondent objected to the purported proceedings contained in the Supplemental Bill of Exceptions.

We, therefore, submit that the bill of exceptions must be stricken because it was not served and filed within the time required by law, and there has never been any valid proceedings upon which to ground a claim that the rights of the appellant to prepare, serve and file his bill of exceptions have been revived.

III.

THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR REVERSAL BASED SOLELY UPON THE JUDGMENT ROLL.

If the bill of exceptions is stricken, as it must be, then the

only think left before the court really is the appellant's general demurrer to the respondent's amended and supplemental complaint. On this question the only point argued in appellant's brief is that the amended and supplemental complaint is defective in that it does not contain allegations asserting affirmatively that the plaintiff was not guilty of contributory negligence.

That is a strange contention in the face of the allegation "that as the plaintiff approached the point where the agent of the defendant was cleaning said windows said employee had the window cleaner with the long handle extended vertically into the air parallel with the window, but as the plaintiff reached a point even with the said employee the said agent carelessly, recklessly and negligently, without looking and without any regard for the safety of pedestrians using the sidewalk and particularly for the safety of the plaintiff, **suddenly** pulled said long handled window cleaner down without turning around and negligently, recklessly, carelessly and suddenly thrust the handle of said window cleaner across the sidewalk so as to suddenly project the said handle between the legs of the plaintiff and trip her so that she fell to the paved sidewalk with great force."

Certainly it is the law according to the overwhelming weight of authority that the plaintiff is not required by affirmative allegations in the complaint to negative the possibility of contributory negligence. That is entirely a matter of affirmative defense.

As stated in 38 Am. Jur. 959,

"According to the practice prevailing in most states, the plaintiff in an action for injuries claimed to have been

due to the defendant's negligence need not, unless the statement of his case indicates probability of contributory negligence on his part, allege specifically that he was free from negligence at the time of the acts of which complaint is made. As it sometimes is expressed, the plaintiff need not negative contributory negligence; or need the plaintiff allege a want of knowledge of the danger from which his injury resulted, for such an allegation is no more than a denial of contributory negligence. A motion by the defendant to require the complaint in an action for injuries to be made more specific as regards facts which, if incorporated in the complaint would have related to the question of contributory negligence, is properly denied, for contributory negligence is a matter of defense."

And on page 960 the text continues,

"The jury, by finding the defendant guilty of negligence, impliedly finds that the plaintiff had no knowledge thereof. Thus, it would seem to be sufficient to allege that the plaintiff's injury was caused solely by the negligence of the defendant.

"Contributory negligence is a matter of defense, and the burden of proving such a defense is on the defendant in a personal injury case or in an action to recover for wrongful death, and plaintiff's complaint need not show freedom from contributory negligence." *Michigan C. R. Co. v. Spindler*, 5 N. E. 2 (d) 632.

STATEMENT OF CASE ON ASSUMPTION BILL OF EXCEPTIONS IS NOT STRICKEN

Now, let us turn to the consideration of the case on the theory that the Bill of Exceptions is before the court.

The appellant devotes the bulk of his brief to an argument on contributory negligence. He takes the position not only that freedom from contributory negligence must be alleged in the

complaint but that the facts in this case clearly indicate contributory negligence.

However, the defendant in his answer failed to make proper allegations of contributory negligence. (See paragraph 5 of Answer, page 015 judgment roll).

The test of whether or not a plaintiff is guilty of contributory negligence is set forth in 38 Am. Jur. at 858 where it is stated "Negligence is essentially a matter of faulty conduct in the manner of acting or in failure to act. A plaintiff is guilty of contributory negligence only in so far as he, or some person for whose conduct he is responsible, is at fault. A plaintiff's right to recover is not affected by his having contributed to his injury unless he was in fault in so doing. Fault can be predicated upon the plaintiff's conduct only where such conduct was in violation of a duty on his part to exercise care. Otherwise stated, there is no negligence without the violation of some duty, and there can be no contributory negligence when no duty is placed on the plaintiff to exercise care. Contributory negligence, it has been said by the courts, is the neglect of the duty imposed upon all men to observe ordinary care for their own safety. It is the doing of something that a person of ordinary prudence would not do, under the circumstances. Before one can be held to have been guilty of contributory negligence, the court must find that some specific act or omission did not meet the standards exacted by law. Therefore, essentially, contributory negligence is tortious conduct. As hereinbefore stated, however, the chain of causation between the defendant's negligence and the plaintiff's injury may be broken, so that the defendant will be relieved of liability, by an independent act of the plaintiff, not within the reasonable contem-

plation of the defendant, which intervenes as an efficient and responsible cause of the injury, irrespective of whether or not the plaintiff was at fault."

What act of negligence on the part of the plaintiff can the defendant possible point out? She was walking down a public sidewalk. She had a right to assume that other persons using the sidewalk would exercise due care. How could she possibly anticipate that the agent of the defendant would suddenly thrust the long handle of the mop he was using across the sidewalk between her legs so as to trip her. Surely there was nothing in the conduct of the defendant's agent when he had his long handled mop straight in the air parallel with the window to indicate that he would do anything but pull the mop down to the sidewalk parallel to the window as proper care required.

The defendant has labored hard in his brief to establish a showing of contributory negligence but there is not an iota of evidence anywhere in the record to indicate contributory negligence. As a matter of fact, Archie Hood, who it is stipulated was an employee of the defendant and who was handling the mop testified that he was using a window cleaner into which was fastened a handle 6 feet and 3 $\frac{1}{4}$ inches in length. (Tr. 206) That he pulled it down in such a way that it tripped Mrs. Spendlove so that she fell on the sidewalk. He said Mrs. Spendlove wasn't close enough to brush his body and that he first knew of the accident when he felt something strike the end of his mop handle and then turned around and saw Mrs. Spendlove falling to the sidewalk. (Tr. 209-210).

The issue of contributory negligence was submitted to the jury under special interrogatory No. 2 in the following

language, "Was the plaintiff Levora Spendlove guilty of contributory negligence that proximately caused the injuries which she received on the 3rd day of January, 1947." The answer to this was "No."

The defendant has spent much time in his brief arguing the abstract principle of contributory negligence. He cites several Montana cases which do not support his position.

Evidently counsel for the defendant was so convinced himself that there was no contributory negligence in the case that he didn't make a motion for nonsuit, and never made a motion for a new trial, yet now he argues that there is a legal presumption of contributory negligence in the case.

There was nothing presented in the evidence which would indicate that the plaintiff should have been aware that she was under any degree of danger.

In conclusion let it be said that the evidence introduced at the trial and the cases cited by the defendant in no way substantiate the position he has taken that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence. This matter was properly referred to the jury on the pleadings and evidence in the case and the jury has correctly found that there was no contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff.

The appellant spends the rest of his brief discussing questions relating to the earnings of Leland Spendlove, husband of the plaintiff, and the question of the evidence of the plaintiff concerning her losses resulting from her inability to care for her chickens.

The court did not submit to the jury any issue on the earnings of the plaintiff's husband. The evidence relating to

the plaintiff's losses in connection with the operation of her chicken business and special damages of other types was sufficient to sustain the findings for the jury. (See Tr. pp. 68 to 71).

CONCLUSION

Looking now at the case as a whole, we respectfully submit that under the statutes and decided cases of the State of Utah there is no theory upon which the appellant's purported bill of exceptions can be considered as part of the record. Obviously the court had no jurisdiction to settle the bill on April 24, and the filing of the bill in the Supreme Court on May 5, was an empty act. There have never been any proper proceedings to revive the rights of the appellant to file a bill of exceptions; no showing has been made of excusable neglect or inadvertence and no order has yet been entered fixing any time for the filing of a bill of exceptions or authorizing the filing of it.

Without the bill of exceptions in the record there is really nothing before the court for decision. Quite clearly the general demurrer of the defendant to the plaintiff's amended and supplemental complaint was without merit.

We have not argued at length concerning the appeal on its merits because we are so definitely convinced that the court must grant our motion to strike the bill of exceptions. However, even if the court considers the appeal on its merits, practically the only ground for reversal urged by the appellant in his brief is that the record shows contributory negligence on the part of the respondent. The record shows this contention to be without merit.

We, therefore, respectfully submit that the bill of ex-

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